
 
The Port of Benton Commission Meetings are open to the public.    
  
The regular Commission Meeting and Public Hearing will be available via Zoom, telephone conference call-in 
line and in-person.  The link to access this broadcast via Zoom, as well as the call-in number to participate via 
telephone, will be made available on the morning of the meeting on the Port of Benton’s website at the link 
below, along with the meeting agenda, and minutes from past meetings.  Live broadcast information: 
www.portofbenton.com/commission  

  
For those unable to access the internet, please call 509-375-3060 by 8:00 a.m. on November 8, 2023 to be 
provided with call-in details.  

  
All participants will be muted upon entry; when prompted click ‘raise hand’ in zoom or dial star + 9 (*9) to 
raise your hand. The host will unmute you to speak in the order hands are raised, when the host calls on you, 
press star + 6 (*6) to unmute yourself.  
 

 
 

PORT OF BENTON 
 REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING AND PUBLIC HEARING 

Agenda 
8:30 a.m., November 8, 2023 

3250 Port of Benton Blvd., Richland, WA  99354 
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

C. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approval of Agenda 
 

2. Approval of Minutes from the October 18, 2023 Commission Meeting 
 

3. Approval of Vouchers and Certifications, Including Payroll for Month of 
October Totaling $1,094,057.75 
 

4. Approval of Project Fund Vouchers and Certifications for the Month of 
October Totaling $2,778.02 
 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

E. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

1.  2024 Port of Benton Budget 

http://www.portofbenton.com/


2. 2024 Comprehensive Plan of Harbor Improvements  
 

F. ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

1. Resolution 23-45, 2024 Port of Benton Budget; Resolution 23-46, Port’s 
2024 Comprehensive Plan of Harbor Improvements Adoption; 
Resolution 23-47, Certifying the Port’s 2023 Levy for 2024 Collection; 
 

G. INFORMATION REPORTS 
 

1. Grants Update 
 

H. COMMISSIONER REPORTS/COMMENTS 
 

I. DIRECTOR REPORTS/COMMENTS 
 

1. Airports  
2. Facilities & Operations   
3. Real Estate  
4. Marketing & Communications 
5. Finance Director  
6. Port Attorney 
7. Executive Director 

 
J. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
K. BREAK: Teleconference and Zoom options will terminate at this time. 

Commission and staff will take this time to travel to 1865 Terminal Drive, 
Richland, WA for a tour of the hangar space. 
 

L. Tour of 1865 Terminal Drive: Open to public attendance. No action will take 
place during or after the public tour of 1865 Terminal Drive. 
 

M. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The next regular Port of Benton Commission meeting will be held on Wednesday, December 13, 2023 at 
the Port of Benton Commission meeting room located at 3250 Port of Benton Blvd., Richland, WA.   
Visit portofbenton.com for notices and information. 

https://portofbenton.com/about-the-port/commission/


Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 1 
 

PORT OF BENTON  
COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES  

October 18, 2023 
  

A.  CALL TO ORDER: The regular monthly meeting was called to order at 8:30 a.m. at the Port of Benton 
Commission Meeting Room, 3250 Port of Benton Boulevard, Richland, Washington. 
 
PRESENT:  Commissioner Lori Stevens; Commissioner Roy D. Keck; Executive Director, Diahann Howard, 
PPM®, PPX®; Port Attorney, David Billetdeaux; Director of Real Estate, Teresa Hancock; Public 
Information Officer, Summers Miya; Director of Facilities & Operations, Ron Branine; Airport Manager, 
Quentin Wright; Director of Finance, Jeff Lubeck; Senior Accountant, Veronica Serna; Director of 
Marketing, Wally Williams; Construction Project Manager, Bryan Bell; Accounting Specialist, Julia Mora; 
Scott Keller, Community Member; Kent Madsen, Community Member; Mayor Pro Tem, Theresa 
Richardson, City of Richland 
 
The following attendees attended via remote communications: Commissioner Christy L. Rasmussen; 
Contract Specialist, Sheri Collins; Ashley Garza; Bryan Condon, Century West Engineering; Joshua Lott, 
Anderson Perry & Associates  
 
The Commission meeting was noticed as required by RCW 42.30.070.    
  
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Commission Secretary Lori Stevens led those present in reciting the Pledge 
of Allegiance.   
 
C. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving the agenda for the October 18, 2023 Commission 
meeting, approval of minutes from the September 13 ,2023 Commission meeting, approval of minutes 
from the October 9, 2023 special Commission meeting, approval of minutes from the October 9, 2023 
special Commission Budget Workshop, approval of vouchers and certifications, including payroll, for 
the month of September totaling $822,199.78, approval of project vouchers and certifications for the 
month of September totaling $1,105.00. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT:  

 Community Member Scott Keller commented that the preliminary budget was nicely done. 
Keller questioned the $11 million noted for expected grant revenue because on page 51 of the packet, 
item 5 related to the White Bluffs grant is not yet approved. 

 City of Richland Mayor Pro Tem Theresa Richardson commented that on behalf of City of 
Richland, she loves working with Port of Benton, adding that the recent announcement related to 
hydrogen hubs is very interesting. 
 Richardson commented that the area is sitting really well and she looks forward to working 
together in the future on this project. 
 
 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 2 
 

E.  ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

 1. Overview of 2024 Port of Benton Proposed Budget Prior to Being Placed on File for Public 
Review 

 Director of Finance Jeff Lubeck provided a budget overview beginning with a review of the 
budget timeline.  
 Lubeck noted that the workshop was held on 10/09/2023, which gave staff from 10/10/2023 – 
10/17/2023 time to adjust the budget, if necessary.  
 Lubeck reviewed the remaining timeline: 

10/18/2023 – Present budget for public comment and posting 
10/19/2023 – Release budget for public comment – allows 20 days for public comment 
11/08/2023 – Commissioners approve final budget 
11/22/2023 – Submit budget to Benton County 
11/22/2023 – Submit tax assessment to Benton County Treasurer – due not later than 
11/30/2023 
December 2023 – Prepare and upload detailed budget into accounting system for detailed 
budget vs. actual analysis in 2024 

Lubeck highlighted changes made to the budget since the 10/09/2023 budget workshop: 

• The Port of Benton received the second preliminary property valuation from Benton 
County 

• Proposed budget not changed 
• The final valuation from Benton County is expected on 11/01/2023 and will be included 

in the final version of the budget 
• No additional changes 

Lubeck reviewed major pending items related to the 2024 budget, including the land swap with 
City of Richland as the timing and cash requirement is uncertain at this time. Lubeck added that the 
team is currently assuming this will be completed in 2023 with no or minimal cash. 

Lubeck added that the other pending item is the final property tax revenue but does not 
anticipate a material change. 

Lubeck overviewed some key budget takeaways, including that the 2024 proposed budget is 
more detailed and provides greater transparency than previous years. Lubeck added that the proposed 
budget is a balanced budget, with $79k surplus.  
 Lubeck noted that operating revenues are increasing 35% over the 2023 budget, property tax 
rate is decreasing for the 6th year in a row, operating expenses are increasing 11% over the 2023 budget, 
largest year ever planned for Port capital projects, 65% increase in business volume, which will require a 
disciplined execution.  
 Lubeck reviewed the BLUF (Bottom Line Up Front), noting that there is approximately $78k 
surplus in the 2024 budget totals. 
 Lubeck added that capital grants and project grants are related to each other, adding that grants 
and timing of grants are outside Port control and if grant funding does not come through, a capital 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 3 
 

project will be delayed. 
 Lubeck provided a lease revenue comparison chart for years 2021-2024, with the following 
factors noted: Increase based on rate changes implemented in 2023, thanks to Director of Real Estate 
Teresa Hancock’s continued efforts as rates are continuing to be adjusted related to market value, as 
many previous leases are well below market. 
 Lubeck added that new revenue from 1845 Terminal Drive is included, which is approximately 
$115k and the possible acquisition of a new building with $220k additional lease revenue possible. 
 Lubeck noted that revenues from the Technology Enterprise Center (TEC) have been removed 
because of the 2023 sale, which was $134k in total annual revenues. 
 Lubeck provided a visual breakdown of current lease counts, which included the following 
information related to Port leases: 

• Non-Profit – 2, 1% 
• Government – 15, 8% 
• Large – 37, 20% 
• Hangar – 54, 29% 
• Small – 80, 42% 
• 188 total leases 

Lubeck noted that this breakdown of lease analytics has been made possible thanks to the 
improved tools recently implemented and even more visibility will be available and provided next year. 

Lubeck explained that property taxes on a $500k home have gone down 21% in the last 5 years, 
with a peak in 2007. 

Lubeck provided a visual of the Benton County property tax distribution, adding that Port of 
Benton receives 1.11% of all property tax collected in Benton County at $2,808,530 of the total 
$249,209,592. Lubeck’s visual included a comparison of the other entities who receive tax dollars, noting 
that Port of Kennewick collects $2.1M, or 74% more than Port of Benton. 
 Lubeck added that property tax represents 12% of all inflows for 2024, compared to 20% in 
2023. 
 Lubeck provided an overview of debt payments, principal + interest, noting that the highest 
level of debt was 2014, which was subsequently paid off from land sales. Lubeck added that current 
debt levels will be paid through ongoing operations, which will allow for future land sales to accelerate 
economic development activities.  
 Lubeck stated that a resolution will be brought forth at the November Commission meeting to 
approve 1% tax increase, adding that the preliminary budget is based on 2024 tax year 1st year 
preliminary values provided by Benton County Assessor’s Office on 9/28/2023. Lubeck stated that the 
final budget will be based on 2023 tax year 3rd preliminary values provided by Benton County Assessor’s 
Office, which will be released early November. Lubeck added that the team budgets the levy high so that 
there are no limits to the budgeted levy when actuals are calculated and released.  
 Lubeck announced that $15.4M is planned in capital projects in 2024, with grant/loan funding at 
$11.7M, or 76% of the projects and port funds covering the remaining $3.6M (23.6%). Lubeck provided a 
visual of the capital project distribution: 

 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 4 
 

• Equipment - $245k, 2% 
• Maintenance - $1,592,000, 10% 
• Economic Development - $4,600,000, 30% 
• Improvement - $8,924,316, 58% 

Lubeck provided final comments, stating that the proposed detailed budget displays a 
commitment to fiscal responsibility, transparency, a focus on economic development and growth and 
execution on operational objectives. 

Lubeck reminded the Commission that the proposed budget is balanced, includes a property tax 
rate reduction, offers a balanced approach to debt and debt management and features significant 
capital projects that are planned for 2024. 

 2.  Overview of 2024 Comprehensive Plan of Harbor Improvements Prior to Being Placed on File 
for Public Review 

Executive Director Diahann Howard reviewed the updated Comprehensive Plan of Harbor 
Improvements, which has been provided in an easy, understandable format. 
 Howard stated that the plan was reviewed in detail at the 10/09/2023 workshop and provided a 
review of the updates to maps made since that meeting. 

Howard noted that updated maps include pages 14, 21 and 22 of the plan, which include the 
loop track and proposed inland port area. Howard reminded the Commission that Atlas Agro, is 
completing feasibility and the port is anticipating a decision by second quarter of 2024. Howard 
reminded the Commission that this sale would potentially be $9.1M to the Port of Benton. Howard 
added that the recent hydrogen hub announcement included Atlas Agro as part of the project. Howard 
added that the updated map covers the proposed swap with the city and the solar land lease transaction 
to the north of the Atlas Agro land. Howard added that it also covers any barge tie-out and planning and 
the airport acquisition of the 1845 Terminal Drive building. 

Howard noted that page 21, which covers the Tri-Cities Research District, includes Port, private, 
Department of Energy, PNNL, WSU ties in with the work by VERTical and is slated for multiple years. 

Howard noted that page 22 was also updated to include more options for consideration. 

Howard noted that the Comp Plan includes A/V and irrigation upgrades at Clore, further 
development at Vintners Village, plans at Crow Butte as well as USS Triton Sail Park. 

Howard pointed out the addition of Appendix H, which was moved over from the proposed 
budget document. 

Commissioner Keck complimented the complete transparency, stating that the presentations 
have been the most transparent he has seen in the 14 years he has spent as a commissioner. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving the 2024 proposed budget and 2024 proposed 
Comprehensive Plan of Harbor Improvements with the changes discussed today, and approving 
placement of both documents on file and available on the Port website at portofbenton.com and for 
pickup from the Port offices at 3250 Port of Benton Blvd., Richland, Washington.  



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 5 
 

 3.  Resolution 23-37, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Establishing an Electronic Funds 
Transfer Policy 

 General Counsel David Billetdeaux announced that there are a number of policies to be 
presented today related to the finance department, which are related to the State Auditor’s Office (SAO) 
and their continued request for additional or updated policies.  
 Billetdeaux noted that there have been previous internal policies, but with the approval of 
them, they will become formalized and in accordance with RCW 39.58.750. 
 Billetdeaux added that the policies presented today are in complete compliance with the SAO. 
 Billetdeaux introduced Resolution 23-37, establishing an electronic funds policy, which puts 
additional safeguards in place. 

 Director of Finance Jeff Lubeck added that the resolution outlines the policy, noting that 
anything related to electronic funds transfer must be handled in person or direct contact, no emails and 
the policy guidelines are clearly broken out in Resolution 23-37. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Resolution 23-37, a resolution of the Port of 
Benton establishing an electronic funds transfer policy. 

 4. Resolution 23-38, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Establishing GASB 87 Leasing Policies 

General Counsel David Billetdeaux explained that this resolution is related to lease accounting 
format standards, which was a major undertaking and took a lot of time, with the resolution outlining 
the leasing policies. 

Director of Finance Jeff Lubeck added that this resolution covers how accounting is handled, as 
in handled by what and when a tenant is paying the Port. Lubeck noted that that this includes anything 
with a direct impact to cash and is covered during the year-end deep calculation process. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Resolution 23-38, a resolution of the Port of 
Benton establishing GASB 87 leasing policies.  

 5. Resolution 23-39, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Establishing GASB 87 Discount Rate 

Director of Finance Jeff Lubeck stated that this resolution is related to how the Port establishes 
the interest / discount rate. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Resolution 23-39, a resolution of the Port of 
Benton establishing GASB 87 discount rate. 

6.  Resolution 23-40, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Establishing GASB 87 Leasing Policies as 
Applicable to Lessee 

Director of Finance Jeff Lubeck explained that this resolution includes leasing policies where the 
Port is leasing items from others, such as leases the copier lease, mail machine, BNSF leases, or anything 
under $50k. 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 6 
 

A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Resolution 23-40, a resolution of the Port of 
Benton establishing GASB 87 leasing policies as applicable to lessee. 

 7. Resolution 23-42, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Accepting Work Completed by Railworks 
Track Systems, LLC for the Emergency Repairs on the Wye Track Derailment Project 

Engineer Roger Wright explained that the Port of Benton contract with Railworks for the emergency 
railroad repairs on the Wye track has been completed.  
 Wright explained that Railworks completed all work required under this contract and the work 
has been inspected and found to be satisfactory. 
 Wright stated that the contract was set up for time and materials given the emergency nature of 
the work and the final contract amount with the $49,234.68 change order is $298,834.68, plus sales tax 
for a total of $324,833.32. 
 Wright stated that the work has been completed and the Port is asking for an acceptance of 
work. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission accepting work completed by Railworks Track Systems, LLC 
for the emergency repairs on the Wye Track Derailment Project. 

 8. Resolution 23-43, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Accepting Work Completed by Condon 
Construction, LLC for the 2023 Railroad Tie Replacement Project 

 Engineer Roger Wright announced that the contract with Condon Construction for work on the 
2023 tie replacement project has been completed. Wright stated that Condon has completed the all 
work required under this contract and the work has been inspected and found to be satisfactory. 
 Wright added that there were no change orders on this project, so final cost is $174,074 plus 
sales tax for a total of $189,218.44. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Resolution 23-43, accepting work completed by 
Condon Construction, LLC for the 2023 Railroad Tie Replacement Project. 

9. Resolution 23-44, A Resolution of the Port of Benton Authorizing a $275,000 Sale of Real 
Property – (Benton City) Atomic Donut, LLC 

Director of Real Estate Teresa Hancock explained that an original resolution was approved by the 
Commission in 2021 to surplus Benton City property but was put on hold due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. Hancock explained that the current Subway building in Benton City is located at 515 9th Street 
and was originally built in 1910 for a single tenant. Hancock added that the Port purchased the multi-
tenant building in 2008 and was soon occupied by Subway. 
 Hancock noted that she has showed the space and fielded several leads over the years and 
hence, the building has attracted the attention of local Atomic Donut, LLC. Hancock explained that 
Atomic Donut is a business that all are familiar with, the new owner of the Spudnut shop in Richland, 
who is looking to expand operations in Benton City. 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 7 
 

Hancock added that Atomic Donut has offered to purchase the three lots for $275k, contingent 
on financing. Hancock explained that considering the sale goes through, an assignment of lease with the 
current Subway tenant would be put in place. 

General Counsel David Billetdeaux added that the Port would assign the lease to the new owners 
of the building and had been attempting to contact Subway corporate for weeks, which has been 
extremely difficult due to company turnover and lack of response.  

Hancock added that the inability to connect with Subway corporate has been the only wrinkle 
and if all goes well and smoothly, Spudnuts will be coming to the Benton City community in the near 
future. 

Commissioner Lori Stevens stated that she is excited to grow and expand and support the growth 
of small business but wanted to urge Port of Benton to continue to focus on opportunities in the Benton 
City region moving forward. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Roy Keck, seconded by Commissioner Lori Stevens, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Resolution 23-44, a resolution of the Port of 
Benton authorizing a $275,000 sale of real property in Benton City to Atomic Donut, LLC. 

 10.  Proclamation 23-03, A Resolution Recognizing the Port’s 65th Anniversary  

 Public Information Officer Summers Miya announced that on November 4, 1958, nearly 
65 years ago, by a vote of the people, Port of Benton was established.  
 Miya stated that to commemorate the milestone, the Marketing & Communications team has 
created a 65th anniversary logo and other marketing materials to share throughout the coming year.  
 Miya asked Commission President Christy Rasmussen to read Proclamation 23-03, a 
proclamation to celebrate the Port of Benton’s 65th anniversary. 
 
 Commission President Christy Rasmussen read Proclamation 23-03: 
 

WHEREAS, On November 4, 1958, Port of Benton was established by an overwhelming majority 
of voters, becoming the 46th port in Washington state; and 

 

WHEREAS, since its formation, Port of Benton has fostered economic development, providing 
development sites and facilities that support the growth of start-up businesses to global corporations, 
and bring high-quality jobs to the Port’s district and the surrounding region; and 

 

WHEREAS, throughout its 65-year history, the port has acquired land, buildings, general aviation 
airports in Prosser and Richland, a Columbia River barge complex, a rail network, and developed and 
continually improved properties to attract value-added agriculture, industrial, aviation, advanced 
manufacturing, clean energy, and other industries to the Port district; and 

 

WHEREAS, in 1965 the U.S. Coast Guard declared Port of Benton a “nuclear port,” a designation 
held by only five ports nationwide, and authorizing the port to handle radioactive materials; and 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 8 
 

 

WHEREAS, Port of Benton became the first U.S. port to acquire surplus government property in 
1996 when the U.S. Department of Energy transferred 71.5 acres from Hanford’s 3000 Area to the port 
under the 1994 Defense Authorization Act to diversify the local economy; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Port led the effort to work with the U.S. Navy beginning in 2007 to save the 
decommissioned USS Triton submarine sail and conning tower as a public landmark to honor 
servicemembers far and wide and share the story of Triton’s historic 1960 submerged circumnavigation 
around the world during the Cold War; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Port received 760 acres of former Hanford Site land in 1998 and an additional 
764 acres from the Tri-City Development Council in 2015 as part of 1,641 acres to attract private-sector 
investment and is collaborating with community partners to establish the Northwest Advanced Clean 
Energy Park and an inland port; and  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED in recognition of Port of Benton’s 65th anniversary on 
November 4, 2023, the Commission expresses its sincere and wholehearted appreciation to the Port 
District’s taxpayers, partners, and the broader Tri-Cities community, for their steadfast support of the 
Port’s economic development mission. The Commission commits to continued dedicated service that 
delivers economic opportunities and enhances the quality of life in our amazing community. 

 

 DATED AND SIGNED at Richland, Washington on the 18th day of October, 2023. 
 

A motion was made by Commissioner Lori Stevens, seconded by Commissioner Roy Keck, and 
unanimously passed by the Commission approving Proclamation 23-03, recognizing the Port of 
Benton’s 65th anniversary. 

F. BREAK 

 Teleconference and Zoom options will terminate at this time, 9:30 a.m. Commission and staff 
will take this time to travel to 1970 Center Parkway, Richland, Washington for a 10:00 a.m. ribbon-
cutting of the Center Parkway extension. 

 Teleconference and Zoom options will resume upon return of the ribbon-cutting event. 
 
 
 

G.  RIBBON-CUTTING 

 Open to public attendance. No action took place during or after the ribbon-cutting event at 
1970 Center Parkway, Richland, Washington. 

H.  INFORMATION REPORTS: Teleconference and Zoom options resumed at 11:00 a.m. 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 9 
 

 1.  Grants Update 

 Executive Director Diahann Howard pointed out that the grants report was included in the 
meeting packet and highlighted the following: 

 Item 1 – Richland Innovation Center sidewalk improvements. Working with Anderson Perry on 
updating plans and plan to bid street light portion of the work by the end of 2023. 

 Item 2 – Innovation Cluster Accelerator Program Application will likely come off the grants 
report as funding has concluded and the annual report has been submitted. 

 Item 3 – National Highway Freight Program (WSDOT) – KPFF working on design plans for a bid 
advertisement by the end of 2023 with plans for crossing and signal replacement to be completed by 
late 2024. 

 Item 4 – Railroad improvements/FRAP grant. HDR has been contracted to complete the design 
for this work and construction planned for summer 2024. 

 Item 5 – Consolidated Rail Infrastructure & Safety Improvement (CRISI) – Round 1 has concluded 
and application not approved. A debrief has been requested. State received nearly all funding. Will 
continue with additional community outreach and explore possible partnership with the state for a 
more competitive grant application and bigger project. 

 Item 8 – Tech Hubs announcement expected this week. 

 Item 10 – Benton County .09. Waiting on additional information to begin application 
development and contingent upon negotiations. 

 Airport Manager Quentin Wright added that $4M in projects are planned at Richland Airport in 
2024 and the design scope is at 60% complete with Century West Engineering.   

H. COMMISSIONER REPORTS/COMMENTS 

Commissioner Lori Stevens thanked Port staff for arranging the ATV tour of the 1,341 acres, as 
the maps do not give justice to just how large the area is. Commissioner Stevens added that she 
appreciated the work and effort that went into organizing the tour. 
 Commissioner Stevens announced that she attended the Pacific Northwest Waterways 
Association (PNWA) annual meeting and met the new Executive Director, Neal. Stevens added that she 
appreciates all PNWA does and the advocacy they put forth at a national level. Stevens added that 
PNWA is planning a fall trip where the topic of the Snake River Dams will be at the forefront.  

Commissioner Roy Keck stated that he also attended the recent PNWA annual meeting in 
Vancouver where there was discussion about future involvement with new initiatives.  
 Executive Director Diahann Howard added that AAPA annual port membership will increase to 
approximately $13,850/year, which will allow for a national lobbyist in DC, which is greatly needed. 
Howard added that this may also be helpful with the PNW caucus.  

Commissioner Christy Rasmussen stated that she has kept quite busy in recent weeks, thanks to 
Port of Benton sponsorships and community involvement.  
 Commissioner Rasmussen stated that she had the pleasure of attending the Great Prosser 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 10 
 

Balloon Rally and riding in a Port-sponsored hot air balloon with Airport Manager Quentin Wright. 
 Rasmussen added that she left the Rally to attend the Day’s Pay event at Richland Airport, which 
was a fabulous event. 
 Rasmussen added that she attended the Clean Energy Day Department of Energy event 
regarding the 19,000 acres and also attended a Tri-Tech observation as an industry partner. 
 Rasmussen noted that she attended the meetings related to the Prosser Creative Arts District 
and is excited to see that develop. 
 Commissioner Rasmussen stated that she attended the Vintners Village Mustang Club show, 
which was a great event with cars scattered throughout the village and quite a few attendees. 
 Rasmussen added that she has been involved and participating in audit-related meetings. 
 Commissioner Rasmussen complimented the recent budget workshop and Director of Finance 
Jeff Lubeck for his incredible presentation, which is helpful, transparent and showcases the Port’s hard 
work. 
 
I.  DIRECTOR REPORTS/COMMENTS:  

1. AIRPORTS 
  
 Airport Manager Quentin Wright announced that the WSDOT Passport Program, which 
encourages pilots to visit airports throughout the state, has kicked off their annual food drive. Wright 
added that both Prosser and Richland airports are participating and all donated food stays in the area, 
noting that the Prosser Airport houses a kiosk where the passport stamp and information can be found. 

Wright added that the Balloon Rally was successful, had a good turnout and there were no 
issues. 

Wright stated that the City of Richland Energy Services Project is ongoing and there have been a 
few unplanned power outages. Wright reminded the team that there is 50 years of cable in the ground. 
Wright added that the Port has been trying to supplement the city by providing information to airport 
users and tenants. 

2. FACILITIES & OPERATIONS 

Director of Facilities & Operations Ron Branine announced that the team has been doing a lot of 
cleanup at specific sites, with 2650 Salk and behind Clore being the focus cleanup sites. Branine noted 
that Total Site Services has vacated 2650 Salk and the Port facilities team is taking over the space and 
will move salt operations to this location. 

Branine added that the team has been working on getting the overhead cranes recertified at Salk 
and 2579 Stevens Drive and they are waiting on bids to replace the grinder pumps at 2345 Stevens 
Drive. 

Branine added that the season for irrigation blowouts and leaf pick-up has arrived and these tasks 
have been keeping the team incredibly busy. 

Branine provided the Commission with a visual demonstration of the new work order system, 
which is now live. 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 11 
 

Branine stated that the team has started training on the Preventative Maintenance (PM), 
Inspection and Equipment modules and are starting to input the limited asset data available so the team 
can start to track PMs and develop schedules, adding that it is a great system and able to fit to the Port 
of Benton operation nicely. 

Branine provided a visual presentation of the PM system, which has only been online since 
10/17/2023, including the Clore HVAC system presentation.  

Branine noted that the inspection system will ensure onsite inspections are taking place as they 
should be. 

Branine stated that the team is mostly welcoming of the system, noting that it is a nice feature to 
monitor equipment and have valuable intel on expected end of life of equipment, which will allow the 
team to shift from a reactive to proactive approach. 

Branine added that Crow Butte Park has closed for the system and provided an overview of the 
year’s reports: 

• Forecast revenue up 1.33% 
• Number of guests up 6.12% 
• Guest return rate up 97.65% 
• Occupancy up 4.53% 
• Number of reservations up 5.07% 
• Kiosks – 305 transactions in past 30 days, down from 510 previous 30 days 

Engineer Roger Wright provided an update on rail projects, stating that Condon Construction did 
complete the installation of the 1,200 new ties and ballast on the track, which was entirely Port-funded. 
Wright reminded the Commission that this project was intended to increase safety and rail speeds to 10 
mph from the Richland Junction to the SR 240 crossing, however following the installation of the new 
ties, inspectors are concerned about the condition of the track in the curve north of Duportail and the 
curve north of Van Giesen. Wright added that rail speeds have increased to 10 mph from Richland 
Junction to Duportail, but they remain at 5 mph north from Duportail. Wright stated that additional ties 
need to be added before we can increase the speed north of Duportail and likely from the 2023 budget 
appropriation grant. 

Wright stated that approval for the legislative budget appropriation was received for $1,212,500 
from the State of Washington. Wright added that there is a significant amount of pre-contract approval 
that needs to be completed before a design consultant can be selected and a consultant will hopefully 
be selected in October.  

Wright added that hopefully an award will be received in January/February and the tie suppliers 
should be able to service the track quickly, so a April/May timeframe is possible. 

3.  REAL ESTATE 
 
 Director of Real Estate Teresa Hancock announced that the Vintners Village sale to Enodav has 
closed and they have added their signs to the property and are working with the city on the design of 
their building. 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 12 
 

 Hancock added that she has been in discussion with Neal from Prosser Economic Development 
Association regarding mixed-use development property, which is still unsure and will likely not involve 
Port property. Hancock added that she has been tasked with homework and will continue to support the 
project. 
 Hancock stated that she has been working on many renewal agreements and agreements 
involving 3100 George Washington Way and the Sigma building extension. 
 Hancock noted that she loves the new Voyager system and having access to the reports. 
 Hancock stated that she attended the funeral of Facilities and Port team member, Justin 
Hardgrove and appreciated that the Port allowed staff the opportunity to attend. 
 Hancock added that she attended the Night Glow event associated with the Balloon Rally, which 
was a fabulous regional event. 
 Hancock included that she attended the local governments full Hanford tour, facilitated by 
Hanford Communities and the Women in Business, Regional Chamber event.  

4. MARKETING:  

Director of Marketing, Wally Williams stated that he has been working on several projects, 
including the Opportunity Happens Here videos. 

Public Information Officer Summers Miya provided the Communication Plan quarterly update 
for quarter 3, 2023. 

Miya reminded the Commission of focus areas and primary activities, which include: North Horn 
Rapids, Vintners Village, airports, STEM tourism, creating materials to increase engagement, 
identifying and writing stories, profiles, success stories about Port district companies or people, 
expand speaking engagements, leverage social media, explore cross promotion opportunities with 
partners, increase USS Triton sail tours. 

Miya highlighted goals and progress, announcing the leads received for the focus areas in Q3 
were: 

o North Horn Rapids – 3 
o Vintners Village – 2 
o Airports – 9 
o Speaking engagements – 8 
o Sends/downloads of Port real estate materials – 17 
o Increase USS Triton tour attendees by 15% to reach 299 - 202 

 
 

Miya highlighted more Q3 highlights, including the 65th anniversary logo, 65th anniversary 
proclamation, comp plan update, strategic plan update, action plan update. 
 Miya featured a list of all six articles or stories written about the Port in Q3. 
 Miya briefed the Commission on all news releases sent out in Q3 and all presentations given by 
Port staff. 

Miya provided a copy of the ad that was co-submitted with City of Richland for the Site Selector 
magazine and provided a copy of the current Journal of Business, which featured three Port of 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 13 
 

Benton-related features. 
 Miya reminded the Commission that the New Nuclear event, with Diahann serving as moderator 
would take place at Richland Public Library at 7 p.m. that evening, adding that Chancellor Sandra 
Haynes and Energy Northwest’s Jason Herbert would be presenting.  
 Miya stated that RiverFest was a successful event with many visitors to the Ports of 
Benton/Pasco and PNWA booth!  

5. FINANCE DIRECTOR:   
  
 Director of Finance Jeff Lubeck provided a financial status summary report, stating that the 
State Auditor Office (SAO) audit was underway with the entrance conference taking place on 
10/11/2023. Lubeck added that daily requests are being received from auditors. 
 Lubeck announced a staffing update, noting that Julia Mora started as Accounting Specialist on 
9/25/2023 and welcomed Julia to the team. 
 Lubeck noted that the reserve study RFP did go out and Moss Adams was selected and the 
contract is being finalized. Lubeck noted that this project is intended to be completed by year end. 
 Lubeck provided a financial status report of cash, noting that September 2023, cash down $45k 
compared to August 2023, but property tax receipts will pick up in October. 
 Lubeck stated that September cash receipts from the general fund were $778,900 and 
September cash disbursements totaled $822,200. Lubeck detailed that $234k were payroll related costs, 
adding that there were three pay dates in September, $588k in accounts payable. Lubeck noted that 
there is currently $639k in outstanding AP, with $495k, or 75% related to rail projects, repairs and 
maintenance.  
 Lubeck overviewed Q4 activities and priorities, announcing that the completion of audit is a 
priority, as well as the finalization of the budget and property tax assessment.  
 Lubeck added that he has began action plans that stemmed from the SAO Lean training that 
took place earlier in the year and discussions are underway for a “train-the-trainer” session in 2024. 
 Lubeck added that he has begun planning for 2023 year-end, with a target to close all 2023 
books by mid-February. 
 Lubeck stated that he also plans to review all software agreements for GASB 96 compliance, 
which is similar to GASB 87 for leases, but focused on software. 
 Lubeck stated he will continue assistance with the reserve study and also work with David on 
the RFP for insurance.  
 

6.  PORT ATTORNEY: 
 
 Port Attorney David Billetdeaux stated that he has been working on RFPs and policies, per the 
SAO process, as the SAO has provided notes of what they would like to see in the future.  
 Billetdeaux added that he has been tracking down various documents that SAO has requested, 
noting that some of the original requested documents are from 10+ years ago. Billetdeaux noted that 
the SAO is working from a different audit-related emphasis and there has also been a change in auditor. 
 Billetdeaux stated that the team will be having an archive day at the office on Thursday, which 
will help clean up documents that are past the retention period. 
 Billetdeaux stated that he will be sitting down with each employee to discuss their job 
descriptions, as he will be working on preparing current job descriptions for each position. 
 Billetdeaux added that he has been working with Director of Real Estate Teresa Hancock on 



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 14 
 

delinquent tenant notices. 
 Billetdeaux stated that he will be assisting with the CLE Youth Justice Forum at the federal 
building, which is geared to get the younger generations interested in law. 
 Billetdeaux announced that he will be attending the AAPA Annual Meeting, where he possibly 
will be graduating the PPM® program. 

  
7.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR: 

  
  Executive Director Diahann Howard reviewed current WPPA legislative priorities which include 
aviation fuels and the aviation caucus involvement. Howard added that TIF modifications are on the 
table and the climate commitment act and railroad infrastructure.  
 Howard added that rail continues to be a priority project for the Port and continued advocacy 
will remain.  
 Howard outlined VERTical 2024 legislative priorities as approval of state accreditation for 
nuclear apprenticeship program, establishment of a clean energy fund, clean energy siting, supply chain 
funding, support of international cluster accelerator program, support of economic development 
strategic reverse fund and manufacturing council. Howard alerted the Commission that Clean Energy 
Day will be on 1/31/2024 in alignment with WPPA Ports Day in Olympia.  
 Howard announced that the first VERTical board meeting was held on 10/17/2023 and a press 
release was sent. Howard stated that current board members include, Ken Langdon of Energy 
Northwest, Frederick Hughes of Fluor and Jeff Whitt of Framatome. 
 Howard stated that there is interest in adding 2-3 additional board members, but keeping the 
board size relatively small.  
 Howard noted that she has been asked to present at the AAPA American Bureau of Shipping  on 
the role of advanced nuclear technologies in maritime energy transition and will invite companies to join 
her in this effort. 
 Howard announced that she attended the AWB Summit in September. 
 Howard stated that after the RiverFest event she met with representatives from the US Navy at 
the Port office to welcome them to Richland and discuss the Port role in the decommissioned reactors. 
Howard added that this was a great opportunity to learn more about the compartments, the process 
and develop relationships with the Navy, adding that the Navy had not met with a Port in a couple of 
decades. 
 Howard stated that she attended the NW Seaports Alliance Fall Reception, which was held at 
the Museum of Flight and made excellent cross connections, which follow-up will be made. Howard 
added that the Port has been invited to attend follow-up meetings, which will be rotated through the 
staff. 
 Howard noted that the updated strategic plan will be presented at the next Commission 
meeting and there will be a tour of the Richland Airport at the next Commission meeting. 
 Howard stated that she plans to attend the IAREC reception at Clore on 10/23/2023. 
 Howard informed the Commission that the Port is currently involved in three separate 
transactions, which include the possible purchase in the Technology & Business Center, land transfer 
and Clore partnership, adding that she hopes to bring forward more information about the potential 
land transfer at the November meeting. Howard added that she is looking forward to a new partnership 
regarding the Clore facility as well.  

   



Commission Meeting  Meeting Minutes 
October 18, 2023  Page 15 
 

J. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  The regular Commission meeting was recessed and it was announced that an 
Executive Session would not be held. 

K. ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned at 12:15 p.m. with an announcement that the next 
regular Port of Benton Commission meeting will be held on Wednesday, November 8, 2023 at 8:30 a.m. 
at the Port of Benton Commission meeting room, located at 3250 Port of Benton Blvd., Richland, 
Washington.  

 

 

___________________________  
Lori Stevens 
Commission Secretary 



Port of Benton, Benton County, Washington 

Voucher Certification and Approval 

for the Month of October 2023 

General Expenses 

Accounts Payable Warrants#: 82151 82236 

Electronic Payments: 

Total General Expenses 

Payroll 

Direct Deposit: 
ACH 

Electronic Payments: 

IRS Payroll Tax Deposit 
Other Payroll Related Payn;ients 

Total Payroll 

Total General Expenses and Payroll 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials 
have been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described 
herein, that any advance payment is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is 

available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a contractual obligation, and 

that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the Port of Benton 
and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

$ 731,603.67 

$ 152,249.98 

$ 883,853.65 

$ 105,289.51 

$ 39,358.10 

$ 65,556.49 

$ 210,204.10 

$ 1,094,057.75 

Attest: Director of Finance/Port Auditor 

We, the undersigned Commissioners of the Port of Benton, Benton County, 

Washington, do hereby certify the following vouchers/warrants have been 
certified and approved for payment, this the ___ day of ______ ~ 2023. 

President 

Vice President 

Secretary 



Date Payee 

Port of Benton 
Check register 

Document no. 

Bank: BCT MAIN - KeyBank National Association Account no: 6631-6601101 
10/12/2023 VEN00002--A-L COMPRESSED GASES, INC 082151 
10/12/2023 VEN00006--ABADAN, INC 082152 
10/12/2023 VEN00012--AFLAC 082153 
10/12/2023 VEN00044--BENTON PUD 082154 
10/12/2023 VEN00044--BENTON PUD 082155 
10/12/2023 VEN00075--CASCADE NATURAL GAS CORP 082156 
10/12/2023 VEN00071--CITY OF PROSSER 082157 
10/12/2023 VEN00071--CITY OF PROSSER 082158 
10/12/2023 VEN00071--CITY OF PROSSER 082159 
10/12/2023 VEN00089--CITY OF RICHLAND 082160 
10/12/2023 VEN00089--CITY OF RICHLAND 082161 
10/12/2023 VEN00089--CITY OF RICHLAND 082162 
10/12/2023 VEN00089-CITY OF RICHLAND 082163 
10/12/2023 VEN00107-COOK'S ACE HARDWARE 082164 
10/12/2023 VEN00161--EXPRESS SERVICES, INC. 082165 
10/12/2023 VEN00009-GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 082166 
10/12/2023 VEN00540--GLACIER SUPPLY GROUP, LLC 082167 
10/12/2023 VEN00666--KERNAN FENCING COMPANY 082168 
10/12/2023 VEN00510-LIFESECURE INSURANCE COMPANY 082169 
10/12/2023 VEN00491-LOWE'S CREDIT/SYNCHRONY FINANCIAL 082170 
10/12/2023 VEN00253-MINUTEMAN PRESS OF KENNEWICK 082171 
10/12/2023 VEN00258--MOON SECURITY SERVICES, INC 082172 
10/12/2023 VEN00301--PITNEY BOWES, INC 082173 
10/12/2023 VEN00408--U.S. BANK 082174 
10/12/2023 VEN00669--Vito Romano 082175 
10/12/2023 VEN00449--ZIPL Y FIBER 082176 
10/23/2023 VEN00637-360 AUTOMOTIVE & REPAIR 082177 
10/23/2023 VEN00590--AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF AIRPORT EXEC- 082178 

UTIVES 
10/23/2023 VEN00025--AMERICAN ROCK PRODUCTS, INC 082179 
10/23/2023 VEN00150--BENTON COUNTY ELECTION RESERVE FUND 082180 
10/23/2023 VEN00044--BENTON PUD 082181 
10/23/2023 VEN00053-BENTON RURAL ELEC ASSOCIATION 082182 
10/23/2023 VEN00059-BENTON-FRANKLIN HEAL TH DEPT 082183 
10/23/2023 VEN00650-BRIDGETOWER OPCO, LLC 082184 
10/23/2023 VEN00075--CASCADE NATURAL GAS CORP 082185 
10/23/2023 VEN00629--CHICAGO TITLE OF WASHINGTON 082186 
10/23/2023 VEN00321-CI INFORMATION MANAGEMENT 082187 
10/23/2023 VEN00290-CI-PW, LLC (Paradise Bottled Water) 082188 
10/23/2023 VEN00052-CITY OF BENTON CITY 082189 
10/23/2023 VEN00071-CITY OF PROSSER 082190 
10/23/2023 VEN00077-COLUMBIA BASIN IT 082191 
10/23/2023 VEN00102-COLUMBIA BASIN PAPER & SUPPLY 082192 
10/23/2023 VEN00659--CONDON CONSTRUCTION LLC 082193 
10/23/2023 VEN00105--CONNELL OIL, INC 082194 
10/23/2023 VEN00107--COOK'S ACE HARDWARE 082195 
10/23/2023 VEN00639--CWW LLC (COLUMBIA RAIL) 082196 
10/23/2023 VEN00136--DIGITAL IMAGE TRI-CITIES, INC. 082197 
10/23/2023 VEN00143--DSD BUSINESS SYSTEMS 082198 
10/23/2023 VEN00664--ELIZABETH RENZ 082199 
10/23/2023 VEN00161--EXPRESS SERVICES, INC. 082200 
10/23/2023 VEN00166--FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC. 082201 
10/23/2023 VEN00009--GEO WAY ACE HARDWARE 082202 
10/23/2023 VEN00540--GLACIER SUPPLY GROUP, LLC 082203 
10/23/2023 VEN00588--IC CONSUL TING CORPORATION 082204 
10/23/2023 VEN00223--JOHNSTONE SUPPLY 082205 
10/23/2023 VEN00229--KELLEY'S TELE-COMMUNICATION, INC. 082206 
10/23/2023 VEN00291--KENNEWICK RANCH AND HOME 082207 
10/23/2023 VEN00242-LIBERTY LAWN & SAW 082208 
10/23/2023 VEN00240-LIFE FLIGHT NETWORK FOUNDATION 082209 
10/23/2023 VEN00510-LIFESECURE INSURANCE COMPANY 082210 
10/23/2023 VEN00490-MARY POTTER 082211 
10/23/2023 VEN00380-MCCLATCHY COMPANY 082212 
10/23/2023 VEN00645--MIDVALE SIGNAL, INC 082213 
10/23/2023 VEN00253--MINUTEMAN PRESS OF KENNEWICK 082214 
10/23/2023 VEN00265--NORTHWEST AQUATIC ECO-SYSTEMS, INC 082215 
10/23/2023 VEN00648-ONPOINT COMMUNICATIONS, LLC 082216 
10/23/2023 VEN00297-PERSONAL TOUCH CLEANING, INC. 082217 
10/23/2023 VEN00306--PROMINENCE PUBLIC RELATIONS 082218 
10/23/2023 VEN00317--RAILWORKS TRACK SYSTEMS 082219 

Created on 11/03/2023, 11 :04 AM PST 

Amount 

18.46 
312.69 
603.11 

1,057.60 
1,399.73 

154.65 
2,207.25 

96.94 
550.15 

1,228.06 
3,204.17 

27,101 .74 
15,200,88 

118.43 
5,209.79 

92.98 
3,121.90 
1,737.60 

833.33 
202.96 

1,297.77 
3,025.03 

500.00 
799.73 
960.74 

82.48 
737.78 
275.00 

579.08 
22,984.87 

18.07 
1,045.42 

50.00 
118.90 
98.54 

380.45 
47.82 

109.69 
100.60 

4,716.84 
985.00 
365.23 

68,725.10 
2,482.96 

40.16 
10,154.75 
1,369.84 
8,849.04 
2,265.00 
2,942.80 

30.88 
153,68 
941 .44 

10,890.00 
166.45 
144.36 
203.15 
174.97 
27.08 

795.52 
2,250.00 
1,165.07 

74,375.73 
65.18 

6,880.00 
13,000.00 
24,780.82 
2,700.00 

378,406.66 

Page 1 



Port of Benton 
Check register 

Date Payee Document no. Amount 

10/23/2023 VEN00652-RICHARD RHYNARD 082220 2,250.00 
10/23/2023 VEN00331-RICHLAND ROTARY CLUB 082221 500.00 
10/23/2023 VEN00464-ROCKABILL Y ROASTING CO. 082222 95.00 
10/23/2023 VEN00334--SANITARY DISPOSAL, INC. 082223 1,064.96 
10/23/2023 VEN00352--SMARSH, INC. 082224 7.14 
10/23/2023 VEN00359-STEEBER'S LOCK SERVICE, LLC 082225 239.14 
10/23/2023 VEN00365--STRATTON SURVEYING & MAPPING 082226 480.00 
10/23/2023 VEN00346--THE SHERWIN-WILLIAMS CO. 082227 483.93 
10/23/2023 VEN00298--TRI-CITY COMPUTER CONSUL TING LLC 082228 2,326.18 
10/23/2023 VEN00399-TRIDEC,INC. 082229 2,083.33 
10/23/2023 VEN00402-UNDERGROUND CREATIVE, LLC 082230 1,750.00 
10/23/2023 VEN00414-VERIZON 082231 1,676.09 
10/23/2023 VEN00570--VITAL RECORDS CONTROL 082232 219.47 
10/23/2023 VEN00489-WAYNE POTTER 082233 2,640.27 
10/23/2023 10029-Wright, Quentin 082234 178.21 
10/23/2023 10016-Collins, Sheri 082235 8.80 
10/23/2023 10020-Miya, Summers 082236 769.60 
10/06/2023 VEN00215--INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 100623 2,428.77 
10/13/2023 VEN00215--INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 101323 17,462.04 
10/27/2023 VEN00215-INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 10272023 17,280.90 
10/31/2023 VEN00215-INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 10312023 2,186.39 
09/30/2023 VEN00239-WASHINTGON STATE DEPT OF REVENUE 2023-Q3LET 149,425.30 
09/30/2023 VEN00239--WASHINTGON STATE DEPT OF REVENUE B&O09-2023 2,824.68 
10/11/2023 VEN00122-DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS DCP091523 3,823.09 
10/20/2023 VEN00122-DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS DCP092923 3,616.32 
10/31/2023 VEN00122--DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS DCP101323 3,686.15 
10/09/2023 VEN00268--NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTION NW09292023 2,300.41 
10/26/2023 VEN00268-NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTION NW10132023 2,300.41 
10/06/2023 VEN00122-DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS PER-L.Renz 394.30 
10/01/2023 VEN00122-DEPT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS PERS092023 32,718.84 
09/30/2023 VEN00171--EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPT 03-2023 1,537.38 
09/30/2023 VEN00444-WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF LABOR & IN- Q3-2023LNI 9,434.47 

DUSTRIES 
09/30/2023 VEN00443-WASHINGTON STATE EMPLOYMENT SECU- Q3-2023SUI 2,735.38 

RITY DEPT 
09/30/2023 VEN00171--EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPT O3-23-PFML 3,009.74 
09/30/2023 VEN00215--INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE Q3-23tax 5,976.80 
10/18/2023 VEN00175--FRONTIER FENCE, INC. Voided - 082095 (2,880.55) 
09/30/2023 VEN00215-INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE Voided - Q3-23tax (5,976.80) 

Total for BCT MAIN 988,768.24 

Created on 11/03/2023, 11 :04 AM PST Page2 



Project Fund 

Accounts Payable Warrants# 

Electronic Payments 

Port of Benton, Benton County, Washington 

Voucher Certification and Approval 

for the Month of October 2023 

900091 900091 

Total Project Fund Expenses 

Total Project Fund Expenses 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials 

have been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described 
herein, that any advance payment is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is 

available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a contractual obligation, and 

that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the Port of Benton 
and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Attest: Director of Finance/Port Auditor 

We, the undersigned Commissioners of the Port of Benton, Benton County, 

Washington, do hereby certify the following vouchers/warrants have been 
certified and approved for payment, this the _ _ _ day of _______ , 2023. 

President 

Vice President 

Secretary 

2,778.02 

2,778.02 

2,778.02 



Port of Benton 
Check register 

Date Payee Document no. 

Bank: BCT PROJECT - KeyBank National Associa- Account no: 6634-6601401 
tion 

10/12/2023 VEN00578--BOOTH AND SONS CONSTRUCTION INC 900091 
Total for BCT PROJECT 

Created on 11/03/2023, 11:03 AM PST 

Amount 

2,778.02 
2,778.02 

Page 1 



RESOLUTION 23-45 

A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE 2024 PORT BUDGET 

WHEREAS, the Port of Benton has properly given no�ce of the public hearing held on November 
8th, 2023 to consider the Port of Benton's Budget for the 2024 calendar year, pursuant to RCW 
84.55.120; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Commission of the Port of Benton a�er a public 
hearing, and a�er duly considering all relevant evidence and tes�mony presented, has adopted the 
budget for the Port of Benton for the year 2024 as iden�fied in Atachment 1 of this Resolu�on: 

 

ADOPTED by the Commission of the Port of Benton at its regular mee�ng held this 8thday of November, 
2023. 

 
___________________________ 
Christy L. Rasmussen, President 
 
 
___________________________ 
Roy D. Keck, Vice President 
 
 
___________________________ 
Lori Stevens, Secretary 
 

 
 
 
  



Atachment 1 
2024 Budget 

 

2024 BUDGET

ESTIMATED BEGINNING CASH 3,500,000                 
LESS: RESERVE 1,500,000                 
UNRESERVED BEGINNING CASH 2,000,000                 

OPERATING REVENUES
Lease Revenue

Richland Business Park 2,736,788                 
Railroad 891,968                     
North Horn Rapids Industrial Park 122,500                     
Technology & Business Campus 1,492,280                 
Richland Airport 605,507                     
Richland Innovation Center 204,074                     
Technology Enterprise Center -                              
Prosser Airport 341,300                     
Prosser Wine & Food Park 162,876                     
Vintner's Village 85,367                       
Walter Clore Center 75,424                       
Benton City 8,771                          

Total Lease Revenue 6,726,855                 

Rail Revenue 450,000                     

Crow Butte Revenue 250,000                     

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 7,426,855                 

OPERATING EXPENDITURES
Operations & Maintenance Expenses* 2,099,147                 
Facilities & Maintenance* 1,393,309                 
Railroad Expenses 1,204,392                 
Airports Operating Expense 686,122                     
Crow Butte Operating Expenses 374,003                     
General & Administrative 2,795,884                 
Promotional Hosting Expenditures** 1,000                          

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES 8,553,858                 

NET OPERATIONS (1,127,003)

NON-OPERATING INFLOWS
Property Tax Revenue 2,977,723                 
Operating Grant 100,000                     
Grant Revenue 11,481,396               
Sale of Fixed Assets 1,500,000                 
Other Tax Revenue 185,000                     
Insurance Recoveries 150,000                     
Collections on Notes Receivable 257,868                     
Interest Income 290,970                     
Debt Issuance -                              
2023 Carryover 150,000                     
Project Fund (restricted) -                              

TOTAL NON-OPERATING INFLOWS 17,092,956               

NON-OPERATING OUTFLOWS
Debt Service Payments 515,973                     
Interest Expense 231,523                     
Capital Projects - Grant Funded including Port Match 11,481,396               
Capital Projects - Port Funded 3,438,164                 
Other Projects - Port Contribution on Partner Projects -                              
Equipment Purchases 230,000                     
Increase Reserve -                              

TOTAL NON-OPERATING OUTFLOWS 15,897,056               

NET NON-OPERATING 1,195,900                 

ESTIMATED ENDING CASH 3,568,897                 
LESS: RESERVE 1,500,000                 
UNRESERVED ENDING CASH 2,068,897                 



RESOLUTION 23-46
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

PORT OF BENTON, WASHINGTON ADOPTING THE PORT'S 2024
COMPREHENSIVE SCHEME OF HARBOR IMPROVEMENTS, 

KNOWN AS THE 2024 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AS PROVIDED

BY RCW 53.20.020 

WHEREAS, a 2024 Annual Operating and Capital Budget, a part of the Port's 
Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor Improvements, was adopted by the Port of Benton 
Commission at a regular meeting as Resolution 23-45, and 

WHEREAS, public notices were published in a newspaper of general 
circulation proclaiming the availability of the 2024 Annual Operating and Capital 
Budget and Comprehensive Plan to the public and announcing a public hearing on 
the budget and comprehensive plan, all in accordance with RCW 53.20.020, RCW 
53.35.030 and RCW 53.35.045; and 

WHEREAS the Port Commission has heard from all persons desiring to be heard 
on the matter of 2024 Annual Operating and Capital Budget and Comprehensive Plan all 
in accordance with RCW 53.20.020, RCW 53.35.030 and RCW 53.35.045. 

NOW, THEREFORE IT BE RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of the 
Port of Benton approves the Port's 2024 Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor 
Improvements known as the 2024 Comprehensive Plan. 

ADOPTED by the Port of Benton Board of Commissioners on this _day 
of November, 2023. 

Christy L. Rasmussen, President 

Roy D. Keck, Vice President 

Lori Stevens, Secretary 

. ,,, 



RESOLUTION 23-47
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMISSION OF THE PORT OF BENTON 

CERTIFYING THE PORT'S 2023 LEVY FOR 2024 COLLECTION

WHEREAS, the Commission of the Port of Benton met and considered its budget for the calendar 

year 2024; and, 

WHEREAS, the districts actual levy amount from the previous year was $2,808,530; and, 

WHEREAS, the population of this district is more than 10,000; and now, therefore, 

NOW, THEREFORE IT BE RESOLVED by the Commission of the Port of Benton that an increase in the 
regular property tax levy is hereby authorized for the levy to be collected in the 2024 tax year. 

The dollar amount of the increase over the actual levy amount from the previous year shall be $28,085 which is a 
percentage increase of 101 % from the previous year. This increase is exclusive of additional revenue 
resulting from new construction, improvements to property, and any increase in the values of state assessed 
property, any annexations that have occurred and refunds made. 

This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

ADOPTED by the Commission of the Port of Benton at its regular meeting held this __ day of November, 2023. 

Christy L. Rasmussen, President 

Roy D. Keck, Vice President 

Lori Stevens, Secretary 



PORT OF BENTON
PROJECTS AND GRANTS STATUS

 
  

November 2023

Project Description Grants Pursued/Received Comments
1 Richland Innovation Center     

Rural County Capital Funds
Infrastructure improvements 
across already developed lots 
and the widening of Fermi 
Avenue

Benton County                       
RCCF $1,100,000                          

Anderson Perry currently working 
on updating plans.  Plan to bid 
street light portion of the work by 
the end of 2023.

2 Innovation Cluster Accelerator 
Program Application, Phase 2

Washington Dept of Commerce, 
next evolution of POB, IPZ.  Goal 
to support creation of clean 
energy industry lead alliance. 

State - $300,000 RFP is in process of submittal

3 National Highway Freight 
Program (WSDOT portion)

SR 240 rail signal and crossing 
reconstruction.  City will be 
installing a bike/ped path on north 
side of crossing.  WSDOT is 
planning on widening SR 240 
from bypass highway to Hagen 

WSDOT $865,000                     
POB $135,000

KPFF working on design plans 
for a bid advertisement by the 
end of 2023.  Plan for the 
crossing and signal replacement 
to be completed in late 2024.

4 Railroad Improvements - FRAP 
grant 

Provide grant funding of railroad 
crossings - Airport Way, Saint St, 
and Kingsgate Way signal 
cabinet.

FRAP - $1,030,000               
POB $250,000 

HDR has been contracted to 
complete the design for this 
work.  Construction planned 
for summer 2024.



PORT OF BENTON
PROJECTS AND GRANTS STATUS

 
  

November 2023

Project Description Grants Pursued/Received Comments
5 DOE EV Provide grant funding for EV 

charging stations north Richland
POB land sites Continued coordination with 

EN on regional charging 
station options. Depending on 
grants POB may need to take 
more of a lead role

6 2023-2025 State Capital 
Appropriation

"White Bluffs Rail" remaining 
crossings, ties, panels and rail to 
support CRISI

$1,212,500 State Grant Approved $1,212,500 grant, 
completing cultural and 
environmental work prior to 
execution of contract.

7 Tech Hubs Cascadia Advanced Manfacturing 
Hub-acdcelerating emergincg 
technologies with advanced 
manufcturing

Pending-if approved to proceed 
and projects requested POB 
facility will be submitted.

Application was not sucessful

8 U.S. EDA 2579 building and rail EDA $3-5M                        
Benton Co. .09 $1.2M  
submittal will follow EDA,          
POB $2M                           
CERB loan req to follow EDA

Application to EDA to be 
submitted by Dec 2023.

9 Benton County .09 TBC real property currently in 
negotiations 

Benton County RCCF $1.5M Application developed 
contingent upon negoitiations. 



PORT OF BENTON
PROJECTS AND GRANTS STATUS

 
  

November 2023

Project Description Grants Pursued/Received Comments
AIRPORTS

10 Richland Airport - Airfield 
Signage and Lights (PH1)

Replace Airfield Signs, Replace 
runway lights on RW 8/26 & 1/19 
MIRL

FAA - $3,200,000                                     
No Match Required

Project complete except for 
delivery of  Emergency 
Generator.

11 Community Aviation 
Revitalization Board (CARB) - 
Richland Airport

WSDOT funding to allow the Port 
of Benton to acquire existing 
hangars that are near the end of 
their long term leases and are 
located within the area in the 
Richland Airport Master Plan 
shown for removal.

WSDOT $750,000-$1.2M 
CARB    Low interest 20 year 
loan with initial payment is due 
in 2026.  Interest rate is 2% 
with a 10% cost overun 
allowance.

IOFA Signed, Resolution 
Signed, Awaiting closing date 

12 FAA and State Airport 
discretionary funds - Richland 
Airport

Runway and Apron Crack and 
Fog Seal

FAA NPE  $290,000                  
State $800,000

Approved - Grant Agreement 
Signed by Port and FAA. 60% 
Design submitted to FAA. New 
Construction estimate $1.77M

13 FAA Airport Funds - Prosser 
Airport

Runway and Apron Crack and 
Fog Seal and Airport Lighting

FAA NPE $200,000                
FAA DI $1,300,000

Approved - Grant Agreement 
Signed by Port and FAA. 60% 
Design submitted to FAA. New 
construction estimate $1.75M

14 Infrastructure Investment and 
Jobs Act - Grant Funds (Now 
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 
BIL funds) - Richland Airport

Direct grants for the improvement 
of public use airports.  Awarded 
project is Taxilane construction

Richland Airport $1,200,000 FAA approved for construction 
2024-2026. Working on design 
effort now with Century West. 



PORT OF BENTON
PROJECTS AND GRANTS STATUS

 
  

November 2023

Project Description Grants Pursued/Received Comments
15 Infrastructure Investment and 

Jobs Act - Grant Funds (Now 
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 
BIL funds) - Richland Airport

Main Apron Reconfiguration - 
Design/Construction 2025/26

BIL Funds $833,000 Approved

16 FAA Airport Funds - Richland 
Airport

Wildlife fencing around airport.  
Complete fencing around entire 
airport

FAA NPE $205,000 Approved

17 FAA Airport Funds - Prosser 
Airport

Construct Heliport/Helipad with 
Service Road - Design

FAA NPE $155,000 Approved


	2023-11-08 - Agenda
	2023-10-18 - Meeting Minutes
	2023-10 - Voucher Certification
	2023-10 - PR - Voucher Certification
	RES 23-45
	RES 23-46
	RES 23-47
	2023-11 - Grants Status Report



